1997

Linda Kay Clark v. Cecil E. Clark : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITIES

Jurisdiction to review the final judgment and order of the District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, is vested in the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to the Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rules 3 and 4, and *U.C.A.* § 78-2(a)-3(2)(h).

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDING

This is an appeal from a final judgment and order of the Third District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, involving a common law marriage and divorce. A Declaration of Marriage and Decree of Divorce was issued by trial court Judge Dennis Frederick September 29, 1997. The Defendant/Appellee Cecil E. Clark appealed that matter, which case is presently pending with this Court as Case No. 970635-CA. Subsequent to that appeal, Mr. Clark filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction and Plaintiff filed a Motion for Entry of Order *Nunc Pro Tunc*. On August 31, 1998, the trial court granted the Motion to Dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Plaintiff filed a Motion for Stay and to Supplement Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce and an Objection to Order Vacating Decree and Order of Dismissal. These matters were resolved by Order of the trial court dated December 24, 1998, which is the final judgment and order being appealed to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying the Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Order *Nunc Pro Tunc*, which would have validated the Declaration of Marriage and Decree of Divorce which was being challenged by Defendant based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to violation of the time provisions in the common law marriage statute?
2. Did the trial court commit error in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Stay and to Supplement Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce and the

Plaintiff's Objection to Order Vacating Decree and Order of Dismissal which would have allowed a divorce trial on alternate theories set forth in the original Divorce Complaint in this matter, other than the common law marriage theory?

3. Is the one-year time limit in the common law marriage statute set forth at *U.C.A.* § 30-1-4.5 unconstitutional?

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,
STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES**

Appellant sets forth in the attached Addendum, the complete code and rule provisions referenced as follows:

Utah Code Ann. § 30-1-4.5 (common law marriage statute and one-year filing requirement)

Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 11 (Addendum 12)

Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 24 (Addendum 12)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court must review the trial court's interpretation of *Utah Code Ann.* § 30-1-4.5 (1995 as amended) and Utah Constitution, Article I, under a correction of error standard. As used by Utah's Appellate Courts, "correctness" means that no particular deference is given to the trial court's ruling on questions of law. *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994).

This Court must review the trial court's interpretation of *Utah Code Ann.* § 30-4(a)-1, the *nunc pro tunc* statute, and rulings on Plaintiff's motions, under an abuse of discretion standard. Trial courts may exercise broad discretion in divorce matters, absent

manifest injustice or inequity that indicates a clear abuse of discretion. *Crockett v. Crockett*, 836 P.2d 818 (Utah App. 1992).

STATEMENT OF FACTS/STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff submits the following as summary of the case and refers to the relevant facts, as needed. A more detailed Statement of Facts is set forth in the Brief of Appellee Linda Kay Clark filed in a companion appeal to this case, Case No. 970635, and those should be incorporated herein by reference.

A. General Background.

1. The parties to this action had an 18-year solemnized marriage, which ended in divorce granted by the Third District Court of Summit County on August 27, 1985.

2. The parties resumed living together in October 1985, returning to their previous marital home in Coalville, Utah. They later moved to a home in Magna, Utah, where they lived together until their separation approximately 11 years later. The trial court found that the separation of the parties on August 28, 1996 represented the formal termination of their common law marriage. (Addendum 1, Findings of Fact).

3. The Plaintiff filed a Complaint for Divorce alleging that the parties had a common law relationship and that the assets and property of the parties should be awarded on an equitable basis. She also requested that the marital estate be divided pursuant to common law principles and, alternatively, under the theories of partnership, contract for services or trust. (Addendum 2, Verified Complaint for Divorce, para. 6).

4. A trial was held on August 13, 1997, before the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick who entered Findings that the parties met the legal requirements for a common law marriage, including: the parties being of legal age and capable of giving consent; the parties' cohabitation from 1985 until 1996; the mutual assumption of marital rights, duties and obligations; and the holding out as husband and wife and having acquired a general reputation as same. Part of the specific evidence on which the Court made these findings include the following:

- (a) The parties filed joint, married income tax returns from 1985 through 1994 (this return was filed 10/1/95);
- (b) After an 18-year solemnized marriage, the parties were divorced and resumed living together only two months after their divorce and cohabited continuously thereafter for a period of approximately 11 years;
- (c) Plaintiff kept the married name of Clark, and Mr. Clark purchased a set of wedding rings for her in 1989;
- (d) The parties established several business together, which they operated jointly, and Mrs. Clark worked on a full-time basis in these businesses doing bookkeeping, payroll, and other office work without being paid a formal salary; and
- (e) The parties established and maintained joint bank accounts, credit, and purchased real property together.

5. On August 13, 1997, at the close of trial, Judge Frederick made lengthy and specific Findings of Fact and a ruling determining a common law marriage existed. (Addendum 3, Text of Bench Ruling). A lengthy Minute Entry reflects the finding and ruling of the Court.

6. The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Declaration of Marriage and Divorce were prepared by Plaintiff's counsel and sent to opposing counsel on August 26, 1997. Changes were requested by counsel and revised copies were sent September 10, 1997 for approval and were never returned and no objection was filed. A transmittal letter to the Court for review and entry of the documents is dated September 26, 1997. (Addendum 4).

7. The Findings and Declaration of Marriage were entered September 29, 1997 by the Court. (Addendum 1).

8. Earlier in the proceeding, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Entry of Decree and related documents pursuant to the ruling of Commissioner Lisa A. Jones at a hearing held April 17, 1997, arising from Defendant's delay in providing discovery after two motions to compel and the Commissioner's ruling that his pleading should be stricken and default entered. (Addendum 5, Commissioner Jones' Ruling).

9. A hearing was held June 30, 1997, before Commissioner Lisa A. Jones, where she stayed Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Decree and ruled that discovery be provided the next day. The proposed Declaration of Marriage and Decree of Divorce were filed in the record unsigned.

B. Mr. Clark's Appeal.

10. Defendant Cecil E. Clark filed an appeal with the Utah Court of Appeals on October 28, 1997, on two issues: the first, whether the trial court had jurisdiction to enter the order declaring the marriage of these parties because the order was not entered within one year of the termination of their relationship, as required by the common law marriage statute; and second, whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding a common law marriage based on the evidence at trial.

11. The above-referenced appeal was consolidated into this appeal as Case No. 971635-CA by Order of the Utah Court of Appeals entered February 24, 1999.

C. Post-Appeal Motions Before the Trial Court.

12. Mr. Clark filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction and Memorandum, on May 1, 1998.

13. Plaintiff Linda Kay Clark filed a Response and Memorandum of Points and Authorities to the Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction. Plaintiff also filed a Motion to Enter Order *Nunc Pro Tunc* on June 3, 1998. Both Motions were heard before the trial court on August 31, 1998. At the close of argument, the trial court granted the Motion to Dismiss by Order entered September 3, 1998. (Addendum 6, Transcript of August 31, 1998 hearing).

14. On September 10, 1998, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Stay and to Supplement Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce and Objection to Order Vacating Decree and Order of Dismissal. Mr. Clark filed no response to either of

these Motions and pursuant to a Notice to Submit for Decision, the Court ruled by Minute Entry that Plaintiff's Motion to Stay was granted, and that Plaintiff's Motion to Supplement and to Object to the Order was denied. (Addendum 7, Minute Entry Ruling).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The trial court abused its discretion in denying the request of Plaintiff to enter the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Declaration of Marriage *Nunc Pro Tunc* to the date of trial, August 13, 1997, rather than the actual date of entry, September 29, 1997. The *nunc pro tunc* statute states that a court must simply find "good cause" for granting such an order in a matter relating to marriage, divorce, legal separation or annulment. Since granting of the request would have merely corrected a technical violation of the common law statute and would have validated the findings and ruling of the Court, it was error to find that good cause was not shown.

2. The trial court erred in denying Plaintiff's Motion to Supplement the Findings and Declaration of marriage in this case. This pleading acknowledged the Court's ruling that the common law marriage claim was invalid and requested a determination and division of assets based on alternate grounds set forth in the original Complaint, such as common law principles, equity, theory of partnership, contract for services or trust. Similarly, Plaintiff's Objection to the Order Vacating the Decree and Order of Dismissal asserted that the ruling to dismiss the underlying action was overly broad and that the Court should proceed under the alternate theories to make an appropriate evaluation and division of joint assets. The Court denied these requests without comment or findings.

3. This Court should find that the one-year provision of the common law marriage statute is unconstitutional both on its face and as applied to the case before the Court. The application of the time limit creates arbitrary classes without any rational basis for such discrimination. This Court should find the one-year provision of *U.C.A.* § 30-1-4.5(2) unconstitutional and affirm that the facts in this case support a finding of a common law marriage which meets the other elements of the statute.

4. The trial court erred in interpreting the common law statute to bar entry of the Findings and Order in this case beyond one year, based on a reasonable reading of the statute and on the theory of estoppel. Plaintiff's ability to comply with the one-year time limitation in the statute was substantially prevented by the conduct of Mr. Clark, who should not be allowed to gain from this misconduct.

MARSHALLING OF EVIDENCE

In marshalling the evidence herein, Plaintiff submits that there is only one significant fact and ruling to present. That is the fact that Plaintiff did not meet the clear technical requirement of the common law marriage statute by not having the Declaration of Marriage and Divorce Order entered on or before August 26, 1997, which was one year after the termination of the marriage, as found by the trial court.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF'S MOTIONS FOR *NUNC PRO TUNC* ORDER, TO SUPPLEMENT FINDINGS AND DECREE, AND THE OBJECTIONS TO THE ORDER VACATING DECREE.

A. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Grant Plaintiff's Motion to Enter Order *Nunc Pro Tunc*.

This appeal is from a final Order of Trial Judge Dennis Frederick involving a common law marriage and divorce. The parties in this matter had a 29-year relationship. The first 18 years were pursuant to a solemnized marriage which ended by divorce in Summit County in August 1985. A few months later the parties resumed living together, which they did continuously until their separation in August 1996. The Plaintiff filed a Complaint for Divorce requesting that the parties find a common law marriage existed and, alternatively, that the assets of the parties be divided based on alternate theories, including common law principles, the theory of partnership, contract for services or trust. Plaintiff filed her Complaint on September 20, 1996, and the Court held a one-day trial August 13, 1997. At that time, a bench ruling was made finding that the parties met the legal requirements for a common law marriage set forth at *Utah Code Ann.* § 30-1-4.5. (Addendum 8). The trial court made detailed findings referring to a long course of conduct and many categories of evidence which met the required statutory elements. Mr. Clark filed an appeal to this Court challenging the establishment of a common law marriage, and raising the question of the trial court's jurisdiction based on the entry date of the Order and the one-year time deadline in the common law marriage statute for the Court to make a determination of marriage.

After the appeal was filed, Mr. Clark returned to the trial court and filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction based on violation of the one-year time filing provisions in the common law marriage statute. The Plaintiff brought a motion to enter the

Declaration of Marriage and Decree of Divorce as a *Nunc Pro Tunc* Order under the provisions of *Utah Code Ann.* § 30-4(a)-1, which provides as follows:

A court having jurisdiction may, upon its finding of good cause and giving of such notice as may be ordered, enter an order *nunc pro tunc* in a matter relating to marriage, divorce, legal separation or annulment of marriage.

The Court heard both motions on August 31, 1998, and granted the Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction. This appeal followed.

The Court erred in not granting the *nunc pro tunc* motion of Plaintiff. The statute requires only a finding *good cause*, which Plaintiff has unquestionably shown in the circumstances of this case. The Findings and Order of the trial court establishing that a common law marriage existed for at least 12 years prior to August 1997 show that Plaintiff met all substantive requirements of the common law marriage statute. Detailed Findings were made as a bench ruling and subsequently a Minute Entry, on the date of trial, August 13, 1997. In those Findings, the Court made the required statutory finding that the *termination* of the marriage occurred on August 28, 1996, when the parties separated and Mr. Clark changed the locks on the residence and Plaintiff relocated. The final Findings and Declaration of Marriage and Divorce were entered by the trial court September 29, 1997, about four weeks after the trial and thus one month beyond the one-year time limit of the common law marriage statute. The relevant portion of that statute at *U.C.A.* § 30-1-4.5(2) is as follows:

(2) The determination or establishment of a marriage under this section must occur during the relationship described

in subsection (1) or within one year following the termination of that relationship. Evidence of the marriage recognizable under this section may be manifested in any form, and may be proved under the same general rules of evidence as facts in other cases.

(Addendum 8).

The Utah *nunc pro tunc* statute requires only a showing of *good cause* for the Court to enter an Order concerning marriage or divorce on a *nunc pro tunc* basis. Good cause is certainly present in this case, given the Findings and Ruling of the trial court on the existence of the common law marriage in this case. By failing to grant the *Nunc Pro Tunc* Order, the Court ignores traditional principles of equity and fairness by relying on a technical matter. The existence of the *nunc pro tunc* statute and its specific application in the area of domestic relations law is tailor-made for a situation such as this. These parties have come before the Court after a relationship of 29 years, nearly one-third of which was in a common law status, and Plaintiff seeks assistance in dividing the substantial marital estate. The ruling of the Court leaves Plaintiff without a remedy under the common law statute, which can be easily corrected by the entry of the order in this case, *nunc pro tunc*.

B. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Grant Plaintiff's Motion to Supplement Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce.

After the trial court ruled that the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to rule on the issue of common law marriage, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Stay and to Supplement Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce. This pleading requested that the Court stay enforcement of the dismissal based on failure to meet the common law marriage requirements pending a decision by the Utah Court of Appeals on this

appeal and the previous one filed by Mr. Clark. That Motion to Stay was granted by the Court.

Plaintiff also requested that the Court hold an additional hearing or allow briefing to supplement the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce entered in this case September 29, 1997. The Plaintiff had filed a Complaint for Divorce which requested a finding of common law marriage and which also requested a determination and division of assets based on equity, common law principles, the theory of partnership, contract for services or trust. Based on the taking of evidence which occurred August 31, 1998, the Court had sufficient evidence to make rulings under these alternate theories. The findings made by the Court established that the parties had contributed to the purchase of one another's vehicles, real property, personal property and business interests. It was reasonable that the Court supplement the Findings and final Order entered in this matter to consider and rule on the alternate theories which were properly pled in this case. Based on the evidence already of record, it would be likely that Plaintiff would be entitled to a distribution of assets and property currently under the control of Mr. Clark.

Mr. Clark made no response to this Motion and despite the fact that it was unopposed, the Court denied the Motion by Minute Entry on October 16, 1998. Again, the ruling of the trial court effectively deprived Plaintiff of any remedy for the division of jointly acquired assets and was an abuse of discretion. Trial courts are allowed to exercise broad discretion in divorce matters unless there is "a manifest injustice or inequity that indicates a clear abuse of . . . discretion." *Crockett v. Crockett*, 836 P.2d 818, 819 (Utah App. 1992).

It is also well settled in Utah appellate law that to ensure that a trial court acts appropriately in discretionary matters, that the reasons for the Court's decision must be set forth fully in appropriate findings and conclusions. *Barnes v. Barnes*, 857 P.2d 257, 259 (Utah App. 1993) (quoting *Painter v. Painter*, 752 P.2d 907, 909 (Utah App. 1988)). The trial court herein utterly failed to provide any findings for this ruling.

The failure of the Court to allow Plaintiff an opportunity for hearing or briefing on the alternate theories requesting equitable division of assets is clear error. After the trial, the trial court was fully informed of the extensive businesses and properties acquired during this lengthy relationship, and of Plaintiff's financial need. The Court awarded Plaintiff alimony of \$1,000 a month, attorneys' fees, and one-half the marital estate encompassing all property accumulated during the relationship. This property included a paid-for residence, a cabin, two rental properties, cash value in life insurance, businesses and bank accounts. All these assets were in the control of Mr. Clark. Failing to allow Plaintiff a reasonable opportunity to address division of assets under alternate theories was a clear abuse of discretion.

Utah law supports a division of assets under such alternate theories under many varied circumstances. An example is the case of *Walters v. Walters*, 812 P.2d 64 (Utah App. 1991), cert denied, 836 P.2d 1983 (Utah 1992), where the parties resided in a "marriage like relationship" from 1980 to 1984, when they were ceremoniously married and prior to their divorce action in 1989. The trial court made a property distribution of all assets acquired during the relationship and not only during the period of marriage. This was challenged on

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