1997

Linda Kay Clark v. Cecil E. Clark : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

§30-1-4.5 clearly and unambiguously requires that a

common law marriage be established by order of the court within one year after the termination of the relationship. Here, it is undisputed that an order establishing a common law marriage between the parties was not entered within one year of the termination of the relationship, and that it could easily have been entered. Therefore, under the clear and unambiguous language of §30-1-4.5, the trial court correctly dismissed the action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction upon Respondent's motion.

Because the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction in this matter, after August 27, 1997, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Petitioner's motions to supplement the findings and decree, for *nunc pro tunc* order, and objection to motion to dismiss. In fact the trial court had no jurisdiction even to entertain Petitioner's motions.

Assuming that this Court finds that the trial court did have subject matter jurisdiction over this action after one year beyond the termination of the relationship, the trial court did not abuse its broad discretion in denying the Petitioner's motions. The parties and the trial court acted as expeditiously as possible to ensure that the trial would

be held prior to the deadline. The trial court ruled from the bench and entered a lengthy minute entry on the same day as trial to assist the Petitioner in timely drafting the final documents. Petitioner had fifteen days from the date of trial to submit the documents to the court. The documents were not submitted until nearly six weeks after trial. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's motion for *nunc pro tunc* order.

Assuming that the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction to entertain Petitioner's motion to supplement the findings and decree, the trial court did not abuse its broad discretion in denying this motion. The Petitioner failed adequately to plead any of the alternate theories which may have originally been available to her. None of the elements of any alternate theories were even alleged in the pleadings, or at the full and complete trial in this matter. Therefore, the trial court was within its discretion in denying Petitioner's motion to supplement the findings and decree and objection to motion to dismiss.

Finally, Petitioner's claims that §30-1-4.5 is unconstitutional are without merit. First, Petitioner

failed to adequately raise any constitutional issues at the trial level. Second, Petitioner was not denied access to the judicial system. She received a full trial on all the issues she raised. She won at trial. Petitioner was neither denied due process nor her right to equal protection. She was treated just as every other party to a common law action. Neither the Respondent, nor the trial court, nor the statute had any control over the Petitioner's failure timely to submit the requisite documents. The Petitioner received every protection that all common law litigants receive. Petitioner's own failure to take the reasonable steps to secure her remedy required the trial court to dismiss the action.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED THE ACTION FOR LACK OF SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

"The jurisdiction of all other courts, both original and appellate, shall be provided by statute." Art. VIII, §5 UTAH CONSTITUTION. The statute in question in this case is §30-1-4.5 of the Utah Code Ann., which requires that "[t]he determination or establishment of a marriage under this section **must occur** during the relationship described in Subsection (1), or within one year following the termination

of that relationship." (emphasis added). This is clear mandatory language. There is no room for the trial court to abuse its discretion as Petitioner has argued. "'When interpreting statutes, this court is guided by the long-standing rule that a statute should be construed according to its plain language.'" Bunch v. Englehorn, 906 P.2d 918, 920 (Utah App. 1995) (quoting Utah Sign, Inc. v. Utah Dep't of Transp., 896 P.2d 632, 633 (Utah 1995)). "Thus, when the statutory language is plain and unambiguous, we will not look beyond it to surmise the legislature's intent." Id. (citing Brinkerhoff v. Forsyth, 779 P.2d 685, 686 (Utah 1989)). Therefore, the trial court has subject matter jurisdiction, pursuant to §30-1-4.5, to enter an order establishing a common law marriage during the relationship, or within one year following the termination of said relationship, after this one-year period, the trial court loses subject matter jurisdiction.

The trial court found that the parties' relationship terminated on August 28, 1996. (R. 551). Mr. Clark disputes this in his related appeal, but for purposes of Ms. Clark's appeal, this is irrelevant. It is undisputed that the trial court specifically expedited this case to ensure

compliance with the one-year time limit in §30-1-4.5. Trial was held on August 13, 1997, well within the one-year requirement. The trial court ruled from the bench and entered a lengthy minute entry on August 13, 1997. (R. 238-39). Petitioner had ample opportunity to generate and submit findings of fact and conclusions of law and a final order between August 13 and August 28, 1997.

It is undisputed that Petitioner failed to submit the requisite findings or final order to the trial court until approximately September 26, 1997. (Aplt. Brf. p. 6). This was approximately six weeks after the trial, and nearly four weeks after the one year time limit imposed by §30-1-4.5. These documents were promptly signed by the trial court three days later on September 29, 1997.

The Bunch case cited above, while not directly on point, does provide guidance in this case. In Bunch, Ms. Bunch sought to establish a common law marriage to Mr. Englehorn. Id. at 919. Mr. Englehorn moved to dismiss the action because there had been no court order entered establishing a common law marriage within one year after the relationship had ended. Id. The same as the Petitioner here, Bunch admittedly failed to obtain an order from the

court establishing a common law marriage within one year of the termination of the relationship. Id. at 920. The trial court concluded that, based on the requirements of §30-1-4.5, it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the action and dismissed the case. Id. at 919.

On appeal, Bunch argued that, because she filed her complaint within one year of termination of the relationship, she complied with §30-1-4.5. Id. at 920-21. This Court determined that this interpretation was contrary to the plain meaning of §30-1-4.5. Id. at 921. "Under the plain meaning of the statute, Bunch did not obtain a timely determination of her relationship with Englehorn." Id. This Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the case based upon a lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Id. at 921.

This holding directly applies to the facts of the present case. Petitioner admittedly failed to obtain an order from the court establishing a common law marriage within one year of the termination of the relationship. Under the plain meaning of §30-1-4.5, Petitioner did not obtain a timely order establishing a common law marriage with Respondent, and therefore the trial court correctly

dismissed the action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR NUNC PRO TUNC ORDER, MOTION TO SUPPLEMENT THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECREE OF DIVORCE, AND OBJECTION TO THE ORDER VACATING THE DECREE AND ORDER OF DISMISSAL.

As the trial court correctly determined that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over this case under the clear and unambiguous language of §30-1-4.5, the trial court correctly denied Petitioner's motions filed subsequent to losing said jurisdiction. See Bunch, 906 P.2d at 921. Petitioner's arguments alleging that the trial court erred by denying Petitioner's motions after the dismissal are without merit.

Once the action was dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, Petitioner's only recourse lay with the appellate courts. Without subject matter jurisdiction, the trial court's only available course of action was to dismiss the case. See Schwenke v. Smith, 942 P.2d 335 (Utah 1997) (affirming the trial court's dismissal of action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction); Bailey v. Utah State Bar, 846 P.2d 1278, 1280 (Utah 1993) (stating that a judge, acting in his/her judicial capacity, loses immunity from suit if the

judge acts without subject matter jurisdiction); Bankler v. Bankler, 963 P.2d 797 (Utah App. 1998) (affirming the trial court's dismissal of action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction).

Petitioner argues that the trial court "erred in not granting [her] *nunc pro tunc* motion" because the statute "requires only a finding of *good cause*" (Aplt. Brf. P. 11). However, this argument neglects the trial court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Petitioner's argument, if accepted, would allow a trial court lacking subject matter jurisdiction to enter an order *nunc pro tunc* **to establish subject matter jurisdiction** over an action. This would be improper: A court must first have subject matter jurisdiction to enter an order. It can not enter an order to create subject matter jurisdiction.

For example, in the Bankler case cited above, the parties were divorced in California. 963 P.2d at 798. The husband sought to modify the decree in the Fifth District Court of Utah since he had moved to Utah and the wife had domesticated the decree in the Fifth District Court of Utah. Id. The court dismissed the action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, as the California court had

specifically retained jurisdiction over the matter. Id.
This Court affirmed the trial court. Id. at 801.

Under Petitioner's argument, the Fifth District Court could have entered an order *nunc pro tunc* establishing subject matter jurisdiction over the matter prior to the California order, upon a showing of good cause. However, such would contradict the plain and unambiguous language of the *Nunc Pro Tunc* Statute which states:

A court having jurisdiction may, upon its finding of good cause and giving of such notice as may be ordered, enter an order *nunc pro tunc* in a matter relating to marriage, divorce, legal separation or annulment of marriage. UTAH CODE ANN. §30-4a-1 (1998) (emphasis added).

Therefore, Petitioner has erred in arguing that the "statute requires only a finding of *good cause*." Jurisdiction is a clear prerequisite even to considering a motion for a *nunc pro tunc* order. As the trial court clearly lacked subject matter jurisdiction, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's motion for entry of a *nunc pro tunc* order to establish jurisdiction.

III. IF THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT IT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION, THE TRIAL COURT WAS STILL WITHIN ITS BROAD DISCRETION IN DENYING PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR NUNC PRO TUNC ORDER, MOTION TO SUPPLEMENT

FINDINGS AND DECREE AND OBJECTION TO DISMISSAL.

Trial courts enjoy "broad discretion" in deciding whether or not to enter an order *nunc pro tunc*. Horne v. Horne, 737 P.2d 244, 248 (Utah App. 1987). In addition, generally, trial courts may exercise broad discretion in divorce matters. Crockett v. Crockett, 836 P.2d 818 (Utah App. 1992). Assuming that the trial court had the subject matter jurisdiction required to entertain Petitioner's motion for *nunc pro tunc* order and other motions, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying said motions.

Petitioner argues that the trial court erred by not granting this motion for *nunc pro tunc* order because the statute only requires a showing of good cause. However, the language of the statute is not mandatory. The statute does not require that a trial court enter an order *nunc pro tunc* under any circumstances. The statute states that "[a] court having jurisdiction **may**, upon its finding of good cause" enter a order *nunc pro tunc*. UTAH CODE ANN. §30-4a-1 (1998). The language of the statute clearly and unambiguously leaves the decision to enter the order in the sound discretion of the court.

In the present action, where the trial court and the

Respondent acted expeditiously to assure compliance with the one-year time requirement of §30-1-4.5, the Petitioner has failed to establish any good cause for why she failed to submit the requisite documents to the court until six weeks after the trial.² The trial court conducted the trial leaving ample time for the Petitioner to do so, ruled promptly from the bench at the end of trial, and entered a lengthy minute entry on the same day as trial to further facilitate the Petitioner's ability to submit the requisite documents. As the power to submit the documents timely was solely with the Petitioner, even if the trial court did have subject matter jurisdiction over this matter, the trial court was within its broad discretion in denying Petitioner's motion for a *nunc pro tunc* order.

Petitioner also argues that the trial court erred in denying the Petitioner's motion to supplement the findings and decree. (Aplt. Brf. p. 13). Petitioner argues that the trial court should have supplemented the findings "to

² "It is my recollection that all [parties] recognized severity, the potential severity, of the imposed deadlines in this statutory scheme, and we did, indeed, move the matter along expeditiously to have the matter tried within the one-year time frame. And it was accomplished." (Judge Frederick, Transcript from hearing on motion to dismiss, R. 581, Aplt. Add. 6, p. 13)

consider and rule on the alternate theories" of the case. (Aplt. Brf. p. 13). This motion was filed after the trial court had already determined that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

Petitioner included the following sentence in her complaint: "These assets should be divided pursuant to common law principles and alternatively under the theory of partnership, contract for services or trust." (Aplt. Add. 2). However, none of the elements of these alternative theories were pled in the complaint. In addition, none of these alternative theories were argued to the trial court, prior to, or during the trial of this matter. Petitioner had ample opportunity to amend her complaint to specifically plead the requisite elements of any alternate theories from the filing of her complaint in October of 1996, until the trial in August of 1997. She had ample opportunity to submit evidence at trial to support these alternate theories. No elements of contract, trust or partnership were alleged in the complaint or testified to at trial.

Petitioner cites Mattes v. Olearain, 759 P.2d 1177 (Utah App. 1988), for the holding that "equitable theories of constructive trust or resulting trust doctrines would

apply." (Aplt. Brf. p. 16). However, actually, this Court in Mattes found that there was no common law marriage and no constructive trust. Id. at 1181. This Court stated that "[a] constructive trust may be imposed if the grantee was in a confidential relationship with the grantor." Id. at 1179 (citing Parks v. Zions First Nat'l Bank, 673 P.2d 590 (Utah 1983)). Petitioner never alleged any confidential relationship in her pleadings or at trial.

Without any cite to the record to show where the trial court refused to allow her to submit any evidence at trial, Petitioner argues that she "has been denied an opportunity to present evidence and briefing on that theory." (Aplt. Brf. p. 16). Petitioner had ample time to brief any issue for trial and to submit any evidence at trial. Petitioner was never denied an opportunity to produce any evidence concerning any of her alternative theories. If she failed to do so, it must have been a conscious trial decision, which she only now regrets in hindsight.

Petitioner also relies on Layton v. Layton, 777 P.2d 504 (Utah App. 1989), to support her argument that the trial court abused its discretion in denying her motion to supplement the findings and decree under alternate theories.

In Layton, this Court acknowledged that "an equitable division of property accumulated by unmarried cohabitants has been sustained upon finding a partnership, contract for services, and/or a trust." Id. at 505-506. However, this Court denied Ms. Layton's suggestion of these alternative theories as they were not adequately pled or sufficiently pursued at the trial level. Id. at 506. In addition, "[t]here are no findings or conclusions concerning any grounds for the property award other than a marriage-equivalent under Utah Code Ann. § 30-1-4.5" Id.

This is analogous to the present case. Petitioner's pleadings were insufficient to maintain an action under any alternate theories. None of the elements of partnership, contract or trust were even alleged in Petitioner's complaint. Further, Petitioner did not submit any evidence or testimony at trial to support any findings or conclusions with regard to the elements of these alternate theories. While it is clear that a trial court may consider these alternate theories under Utah Law, Petitioner is not relieved from her obligation to plead allegations sufficient to support the elements of these alternate theories, nor is she relieved of her obligation to submit evidence or

testimony to support a finding of these elements.

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